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Zxeter City Council

EXETER ARCHAEOLCGICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE, 24th June 1983

Report to Committee

1. EXCAVATION
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id of supplementary grants from the DOE it vas possible to
1 Street on & small scale over the winter

continue the excavation ai Paul
and spring. We now expect to finish on tne site early in July.

Excavation of the bell foundry of 23-1625-1?20 is now complete,.
Althcugh much of the tenement occupied by the foundéry remains unexcavated,
the area investigated is thought to contain most of the workshops, as well
és the furnace and casting-pit. The Paul Street site Iis probably the most
thoroughly investigated post-medieval tell feoundry in Britain.

Perhaps the most important source cof information for tha history of
the foundry:is the bells ewuselvem. Theose cast in the 17th century aﬁc
later usually bear the initials (occasionally the full name) of the founder,

the date of casting, and often have a motto or inscription giving addition-

2l information. All the church bells of Devon were catalogued in the 12th

century by the indefatigable Rev. H.T.Ellaccmbe who visited every church in

the county and poblished his findings in the Transaciions ¢f the Exeter

Diocesan Architectural Society for 1367. Although this work contains many

inaccuracies, it is an indispensible source because many of the bells

described have since been recast. The modern historian of the county's
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ells is the Rev, John Scott. He has been most zenercus in providing
information on bells and founders, and we hope very much that he will be

tec find the time to contribute to the final revort on the Tieter bell

The Paul Street foundry was cperatad between c. 1425 and 1720 by
£

successive members of the Pennington family. Branches of this family were

3
v
Lo}
D
]
B2
o]
Qs
O
iy
Q
\'E;
~
N,
o
&

active throughout the south-west fo vears and

c"l*

hundreds of church bells cast in Devon and Cornwall in the 17th to 19th

vtable to them. The Exeter branch were probably

L)

ceaturies are atiril

responsible for at least 200 bvells (Tig. 1).
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PENNINGTON BELL FOUNDRY
EXETER 1625-1720 ﬁ5

Distribution of bells in Devon

Pennington bell(s)
Bell(s) cast by other founder(s)
Mo bells of this period
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I and his sons
;ells, Thomes IT probably ¢
death in 162k of Thomas Bircdall,



I City wall

EXETER: PAUL ST 1982-3

i

PENNINGTON BELL FOUNDRY c1625-172
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his merriage in 15629. Pennington was certainly casting bells in
Sxeter by 1627, when a peal of five was made for Colebrook church.

Theé entries in the churchwardens' accounts indicate that this casting
took place in Exeter rather than at the church. In 15285 Thomas II
entered into an agreement to cast a bell for St. Peter's, Tiverion 'at
the casting place outside Northgate' and in the following year a bell
recast for Yoodbtury church had to be carried 'dowm over MNorthernhay!
to the foundfy.

It is clear therefore that when tne foundry was first estatlished
bells were not cast in the Paul Street tenement but at a site outside
the North Gate. The archaeoclogical evidence from Paul Street newvertheless
indicates considerable activity in the second quarter of the century:
stages 1-5 in Fig. 2 all date to the period hefore 1550 (except for the
casting pit in stagze 5). The stage at which the furnace next to the City.
2ll was constructed is not firmly fixed in the sequence and could have
teen later than suggested in Fig. 2.

Copious mould debris in the workshop area shows that domestic utensils
‘such as cauldrons and skillets were cast in the Paul Street tenement
throughout the occupancy of the Penningtcons. The manufacture of such
vessels provided the bread and butter business of the foundry, which nc
doubt continued regardless of the demand for bells.

The reverberatory furnace firebox has been carefully dismantled and
it is hoped to mark out its plan when the site is redeveloped. The
firebox had clearly seen considerable use over a long period and preserved
evidence in its. fabric for a number of repairs and patchings. The remains
cof over 20 bell moulds vere found in the successive casting pits anext tc
the furnace (Fig. 3). The earliest surviving pit was almest certainl
intended to contain four moulds. The cnly recorded casf¢ng of four vells
in the post Civil War period occurred in
the bvells which still hang in the tower of 3t MHary Steps chwrch, Lxeter.,
The latest moulds date from after 1710. The test preserved of these is
also the last in the sequence and could well be for the hel
Thomes IIT for Ide church in 1720, the year of his dezth and the closing

te of the foundry.
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The vacant plot of land next to the standing west ran
t. llicholas Priory will be landscaped in the autumn and opened to the
L0 L

ublic next year. In advance of this scheme the ATYU will carry cut a

superficial examination of the areaypartly to record levels to ke

oy
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aifected by the landscaping and partly to locate the wall lines of t!
priory churc th a view to their being marked out. Al*hough the walls
are probably largely robbed, at least one piece of masonry is knowm to

:1;*'u‘:.v° a Ie‘l" ce*'itlme‘:res oe*zeat the surface.

King William Street

A small test ewcavation will be mounted in fugust on a plot of
ground which is to have a multi-storey car-park extension built on it
in the auvtumn. The topography of the area suggests that Roman and/or
medieval aqueducts fed by the springs in the Well Street area may be

foind to run across the site.

Albanz Qoad

It is hoped that it may ve possikle to carry out limited further
work this summer on the Leisure Centre site in St Thomas, where the
Birdall family had their bell foundrw Co 1560-182Lk, There are grounds
for believing that a late Saxon mill leat crosses the site and this

would be sectioned if further excavation takes plzce.

3. STANDING BUILDINGS (J.R.Thorp)

L1-2 High Street

Although 41 and L2 High Street, Exeter, have long been knowm to te
a well-preser?ed pair of merchant's town houses built together in 1564,
it was not until the recent renovation took place that the Elizabethan
fabric could be examined in any detail. TFour hundred years of change
have combined to hide most of the original masonry and timber-framing

behind many layers of plaster and wallpvaper. These have now been stripped

way and for the first time it has %een possidble to record the survivi
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1 structure in its entirety,

I

he houses were essentially identiczl. The front block of each house

. lies gable-on %o the sireet. There were orizinally small courtvards and
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hizh over stone-lined cellars - timber-framed

aring & central chimney stack. The framed front
on each floor and the front end of the contemp-

nt as mirror imazes of =ach

21

vision, eachi floor having a front and bvack room separated by the

™,

central stack and a newel siaircase. Iven on the ground
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all the walls have heen knocked out and the courtyard infilled o

create a single shop floor teking up the entire space of both propertics,

ircluding the position of the froznt deors and the form of the‘shop“

rear parjour of #1, for instance, contained the remeins of a mursl
apparently depicting St., Ceorge and the dragzon, and the froat ved-

was painted with vertical stripes of oranzge and

e irieze of short Lat*n heormilies in strapuork

he rear chamber of 41 alsc preserved an original garderche alcove

lavatory seat and lidl To the lef: of the firenlace

cupboard 11

seating for a round hovl.

%

Home of the Goed Shepherd, Holloway Street

ne larcer of the two houses the Good

-

Sheprerd, off Holloway Sireei, has hitherto been considered +o be zn
1

Tt

LS S

he Georgian external stucco znd internal plasharwori

off to reveal the well-preserved structure of a late
1?-:—:,-CL\1-.—---,1':-1- Rk ¢l mension s = 3 =n < Afrgaa - A4 + = £ rasn 1
[ molLUIL ) W Ll acis n.‘! S inte A8 Tiga .-....pOL 2anT CiSCOo '."‘:.."r‘:-‘ 10T Bevera.l

reasons. The building is very large for its date and context with ot Wase
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differs from the normal double-pile plan in having clear evidence
of subsidiary wings at each side. The siructurzsl carpentry vas of

tancard and was largely preserved intact. Platforn-framed

construction (an unusual technigue apparently peculiar to the Exeter

area in the late 17th century) was employed. The monumental staircase

.

is a particularly fine example and evidence was 2lso found of mullion

and transom wincdows and for the lining of scme fireplaces with

imported Delft tiles. It is the last surviving house in the extra-

maral suburb which developed Jr the late 17th century outside the

South Gate. Two fine contemporary houses, John Mathew's house on

Magdalen Street and Holloway House, Holloway Street, were recorded
before their demolition in the 1970's but several others close by were

pulled down without record in the 1580s.

10-11 The Close

10 and 11 The Close meke up one of ithe best-preserved urban

courtyard houses in the coun¥ry. The house comprises four wings

around a courtyard and dates mainly from the late medieval period;
vut it is clearly not the work of one period. OCwver the centuries
it has been extended, rebuilt, adapted and modernised many times.

10, THE CLOSE, EXETER

Hall Roof ~ Front (south-west) wing

17th century
partition omitted

inserted floor Cathedral
‘ courtyard Close
5 10 P,
cﬁ%@mmms ol—_-='..E!=== feet ? ez
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tie firal reports on the Exeter bell foundry sites this year,

The IOE are grant-aiding the preparation of a Policy Document

outlining priorities for fu

.

ture archaeological worlk in Exeter. This
will be presented in draft form to the Archaeolegical Advisory

Committee for discussion at the next meeting.

5. FPUBLICATIONM

TR Volume

AWY|

The manuscript of John Allan's ronograph on the medieval and post-
medieval finds from Exefer is now complete and estimates have been
ovtained for printing and for the production of microfiche. Alan
Sutton Publishing Ltd of Gloucester will be printing the bdok, which
we hope will appear hefore Christmas, perhaps in time for a launch on

the same day as the next Committee meeting.

C. G Henderson

Director, Archaeological Field Unit
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King William Street Excavation and the Underground Passages

Introduction

In August 1983 three trenches were excavated in advance of the
construction of a multi-storey car park extension on a site in the
suburb of St Sidwell's, outside the east gate of the Roman and medieval
town, The site lies to the NW of St Sidwell's church on the steep
upper slopes of the Longbrook valley. There is no reason to suppose
that much of this ground was ever built on in the past, and the site
would not normally merit archaeolog:.cal investigation. Hewewer, A few
hundred metres further up the Valley[arZM;H;L;1tes of several springs
which supplied the system of medieval aqueducts known as the Underground
Passagess

From the mid 14th century water from springs in the vicinity of
St James' Park was donveyed into the town along aqueducts following the
line of Longbrook Street. The authors of an archaeological survey of
the Underground Passages made in 1931 put forward the suggestion that
prior to the 1h4th century water may have been brought into the town
along a different route, in a conduit which tapped St Sidwell's Well,
situated lower down the valley near the corner of Well Street and York
Road, It was with the objective of locating this putative Norman
aqueduct that the trenches at King William Street were dug. It was also
considered possible that a Roman aqueduct might be encountered.
St Sidwell's graveyard

TheZ;;:;;atlonZ§xtended about 38 m down the hillside from the
pavement of King William Street (formerly Church Iane)., The natural
subsoil was located next to the pavement at a depth of about 3 m. Most
of this depth was accounted for by a homogeneous deposit of dark soil
retained by a revetment wall marking the boundary of a 19th=century
annexe to St Sidwell's churchyard. This part of the graveyard was
deconsecratedland the graves removed in 1969 prior to the widening of
King William Street in the early 1970s. Only a few gravestone fragments

and a handful of human bones remained.

Farly history of the Underground Passages

At this point it will be convenient to review the earliest
documentary evidence relating to the medieval water supply of Exeter.
This was summarised in a report on the Devon Archaeological Exploration
Society's 1931 survey of the Underground Passages published in the
Society's Proceedings for 1932.



The medieval water supply of Exeter is first mentiqga in the
Cartulary of St Nicholas Priory where it is recorded that in 1226 the
dean of Exeter Cathedral granted to the priory one third part of the
well of St Sidwell. This grant has been taken to indicate that by 1226
the Cathedral chapter were already bringing water from St Sidwell's
parish into the Close, whence it was probably distributed to the priory
and to a town fountain at Carfax, When the supply was first brought to
the Close is not recorded, but this is likely to have been in the second
half of the 12th century, a period which saw a number of major ecclesiast-
ical establishments first provided with running water -~ eg. Canterbury
Cathedral Priory in the 1150s and Lichfield Close in the 1160s., In both
these cases the water was conveyed from %4 springs in lead pipes laid
in trenches. _

The division of the cathedral supply into thirds is mentioned in
more explicit terms in an agreement of 1346 which states that the water
was conveyed to an enclosed building in the Close and there divided-dinto ‘stdrwaen
three branches supplying the Close, the town and the priory. A number
of late 13th-century documents make it clear that the pipe bringing the
water into the Close entered the town not at the East Gate but through a
defensive tower which stood on the City Wall at the point where St Martin's
ILane (now fhe Close) enters Southernhay.

For the years 1347-9 the Cathedral Fabric Rolls record the expend-
iture of over 550 on the construction of a new aqueduct. From the nature
of the payments entered in the accounts it is evident that this took the
form of a stone-lined and ~roofed conduit containing a lead pipe. This
conduit can be identified with the section of the Underground Passages
which runs up the east side of Longbrook Street as far as the point where
the passage makes a sharp turn to the SW before curving round to run
across the front of the East Gate. It is this abrupt change of alignment
at the top of Longbrook Street that was thought by the authors of the
1931 survey to mark the point at which a hypothetical earlier conduit

from St Sidwell's Well could have joined the system,

O
Norman /aqueduct

The hillside below the o0ld churchyard wall at King William Street
was covered with garden soil up to 0.5 m deep which was removed‘to expose
the weathered Permian subsoil, A little below the 45 m contour, at a
point where the slope starts to i;;;;g;; markedly, a feature about 1.1 m

wide was located cutting across the line of the main excavation cuttin%;:



This proved to be a trench 3.25 m deep with sides sloping inwards
towards & narrow bottom lined with yellow clay. The fill of the trench
; Cedagesibad) makoraS
consisted of very clean[yaterial probably dug out from the trench and
then filled back again. It provided one or two Roman finds, two early
medieval cooking=-pot sherds and aZ;;;;iy-melted lump of lead., The
trench was also located in two further cuttings and its course traced
for a total distance of about 17 m on a line roughly parallel with the
45 m contour. _

The prediction made in 1931 for the line of the first agueduct
supplying water to the Cathedral Close seems to be confirmed by the
excavation carried out at King William Street more than 50 years later.
The deep trench which crosses the site certainly represents a medieval
agqueduct. Its profile and the nature of its fill indicate that it was
not an open watercourse and the provision of a clay bedding has been
noted in medieval pipe-trenches elsewhere - eg. at Friernhay Street in
1981. We may safely conclude that the trench originally contained a
buried lead pipe, As noted above, the most likely period for the
creation of this sophisticated system of water supply is the later 12th
century.

But why was the pipe laid at such a great deptqi? Comparison of
the absolute levels in the King William Street trench and the earlier
section of the Underground Passages outside the East Gate is informative.
The floor level in the passage was recorded in 1931 as equivalent to
41,26 m OD, The bottom of the trench discovered in 1983 some 250 m to
the NE is at about 41.45 m OD. Hence the two sections of aqueduct are
very nearly on the same level. In the Roman and earlier medieval periods
it was usual for aqueducts to be built wherever possible with grelatively
slight gradient, even when the water flowed in a sealed pipe.

Exeter's Norman aqueduct seems to have been constructed in this
way. Howewex, A considerable expenditure of labour wouldﬁfémn
required to achieve a reasonably constant, gentle gradient over the whole
length of the pipeline. The Cathedral Close is around 5 m lower than
the springs in the Longbrook valley; moreover, the aqueduct had to
negotiate a low ridge in the region of the East Gate. These factors

made it necessary to lay the pipe several metres below ground over much

of its course.

The 14th~-century conduit

The Norman aqueduct was probably at least 150 years old when in

1347-9 the new conduit was built along Longbrook and Catherine Streets



A

to tap springs in Headwell Mead, just below St James' Park near Lions
Holt where the London and South Western Railway (Waterloo Line) now cuts
across Well Street,

There were several important differences between the old agueduct
and its successor., As we have seen, the Norman pipeline was probably
buried and relatively inaccessible over much of its length. The pipe of
the new aqueduct lay in a-dow covered stone-built passageway that
rendered all parts of the system accessible for repairs and maintenance.
Whilst the 12th~century aqueduct flowed down an even gradient the conduit
built to replace it in the mid 14th century rose and fell according to
the local topography along its course., Thus until it reached St Martin's
Lane in the Cathedral Close the earlier aqueduct traversed open ground
along a line selected to facilifate a gradual fall from one end of the
pipe to the other, By contrast, the later system took a longer and more
difficult route, mainly confined to roads, which involved two crossings

of the Longbrook and in several places required the action of a siphone.



